IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

Case No. SC04-49

TFB File No. 2001-00,356(8B)

ROLAND RAYMOND ST. LOUIS JR.,

Respondent.

_____/

INITIAL BRIEF

James A. G. Davey, Jr., Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5845 Florida Bar No. 141717

John Anthony Boggs, Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Florida Bar No. 253847

John F. Harkness, Jr., Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Florida Bar No. 123390

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Complainant, The Florida Bar, is seeking review of a Report of Referee recommending suspension for 60 days, probation for 3 years with pro bono and additional CLE ethics hours, and forfeiture of \$2,277,633.00 to The Florida Bar's Client Security Fund under a 10 year payment plan and to pay costs, and further seeking review of the referee's failure to find guilt of Rule 4-1.7(a) Representing Adverse Interests).

Complainant will be referred to as The Florida Bar, or as The Bar. Roland Raymond St. Louis, Jr., Respondent, will be referred to as Respondent, or as Mr. St. Louis throughout this brief. Mr. St. Louis is seeking cross review of the Report of Referee.

References to the Report of Referee shall be by the symbol RR followed by the appropriate page number.

References to specific pleadings will be made by title. Reference to the transcript of the final hearing are by symbol TR, followed by the volume, followed by the appropriate page number. (e.g., TR III, 289).

References to Bar exhibits shall be by the symbol TFB Ex followed by the appropriate exhibit number (e.g., TFB Ex. 10).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 13, 2004, The Florida Bar filed its Complaint against Respondent, charging him with violations of 16 Rules and subparts (Formal Complaint).

On April 22, 2004, a motion hearing was held on all pending motions. By Order dated May 3, 2004, The Florida Bar's Motion to Amend the Complaint was granted. The Respondent's Motion to Strike for a More Definite Statement was denied, and Respondent's Motion for More Definite Statement was denied.

On May 10, 2004, Respondent filed his Answer to the Complaint.

A Case Management Conference and Motion Hearing were held on June 17, 2004, on all pending motions. By Order dated July 8, 2004, The Florida Bar's Motion to Compel Production of Documents under Protective Order was denied, Respondent's Motion to Compel Answer to Interrogatory One was denied, Respondent's Motion to Compel Answers to Interrogatories Two, Three and Five was denied based upon the Bar's representations and clarifications at the hearing, and Respondent's Motion to Continue Trial and Reschedule the Discovery Cutoff Date was granted. The date for trial was set commencing September 27, 2004, for two weeks. Respondent's Motion for Case Management Order was denied, Respondent's Motion to Clarify Discovery Responsibility was granted.

By Order dated August 18, 2004, Respondent's Motion for Additional Requests for Admissions and Interrogatories was granted. The Florida Bar was ordered to answer Respondent's Requests for Admissions numbered 31-51 that had already been propounded within 30 days and Respondent was granted leave to propound an additional set of 30 interrogatories and 30 requests for admissions. It was further ordered that The Florida Bar's objection to Interrogatory 1 of Respondent's Fourth Set of Interrogatories is sustained as burdensome.

On August 25, 2004 and August 30, 2004, Respondent filed Motions for Partial Summary Judgment on various grounds, and on September 1, 2004, Respondent filed a Motion to Recuse Judge Ronald Dresnick as Referee on Paragraphs 50-58 of the Complaint relating to the Judge Wilson Count.

By Order dated September 13, 2004, that motion was denied as legally insufficient because it was not timely filed.

On August 18, 2004, Respondent filed a Motion in Limne to Exclude the Proposed Expert Testimony of Timothy Chinaris and Harriet Rubin Roberts. The Florida Bar filed a Reply on September 10, 2004.

On August 16, 2004, August 17, 2004 and August 25, 2004, Respondent filed Motions for Partial Summary Judgment on various additional grounds.

On September 16, 2004, Respondent filed a Motion in Limne to Exclude the Testimony of Judge Thomas Wilson.

•

On September 20, 2004, Respondent filed a Petition for Writ of Prohibition and Emergency Motion for Stay. Both motions were denied by Order of the Supreme Court of Florida on September 25, 2004.

A motion hearing was held on September 27, 2004 to hear all pending motions. All motions were denied with the exception of the following three, which were held in abeyance pending the completion of evidence:

- Motion for Partial Summary Judgment; Rule 4-5.6(b) the Interest Provision on Procedural Grounds.
- 2. Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, the Practice Restriction; and
- Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, misrepresentation to Joan Fowler.

The final hearing commenced on September 27, 2004. The Referee announced his findings of guilt verbally on the record on October 15, 2004. At the conclusion of the guilt phase, Respondent renewed his motions that had previously been held in abeyance. Two motions were denied: The Practice Restriction and misrepresentation to Joan Fowler. The Florida Bar withdrew the allegation of a violation of Rule 4-1.8(a), so the motion concerning the interest provision was moot. The referee found that Respondent has violated Rules 4-1.4(a) (Informing Client of Status of Representation), 4-1.4(b) (Duty to Explain Matters to Client), 4-1.5(a) (Prohibited Fees), 4-1.7(b) (Duty to Avoid Limitation on Independent Professional Judgment), 4-3.3 (Candor Toward the Tribunal)

(RR, 36), 41.5(c) (Responsibilities of a Partner), 4-5.6(b) (Restriction on Right to Practice), 4-8.1(a) (Knowingly Making a False statement of Material Fact), 4-8.1(b) (Fail to Disclose a Fact Necessary to Correct a Misapprehension), 4-8.4(a) (Violate or Attempt to Violate the Rules of Professional Conduct and 4-8.4(c) (Engage in Conduct Involving Misrepresentation) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Thereafter, on October 15, 2004, the discipline phase commenced and was concluded on October 15, 2004.

On October 18, 2004, a telephonic hearing was held and the Referee indicated that he was considering an additional recommendation of a forfeiture of the prohibited fee. However, the financial situation of the Respondent was desired as well as proof from the Bar that Mr. St. Louis was not being singled out among the FRF&S shareholders.

Subsequently, The Florida Bar filed a Brief on the matter and Respondent produced a financial statement.

On February 4, 2005, the Referee filed his Report of Referee.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

THE SECRET SIDE AGREEMENT ("ENGAGEMENT AGREEMENT")

In 1996, Respondent was a shareholder in the law firm of Friedman, Rodriguez, Ferraro & St. Louis (hereinafter referred to as "FRF&S"). Respondent represented 20 plaintiffs in tort litigation against Dupont arising out of Dupont's faulty product, Benlate 50DF.

Respondent was the lawyer who brought all the Benlate clients to FRF&S, was the primary strategist for the firm, and had the primary authority for communicating with clients. (RR, 11). Settlement discussions began on July 3, 1996, with a telephone call to respondent's partner, Francisco Ramon Rodriguez, from James Shomper and Patrick Lee, who represented Dupont. Mr. Rodriguez, at that time, learned that Dupont was requesting that the firm get out of the Benlate business as a condition to any settlement (RR, 14). Settlement discussions continued throughout July, 1996, and FRF&S did legal research regarding Dupont's request and knew of Rule 4-5.6(b) (RR, 15).

On August 7, 1996, Respondent and his partner, Francisco Ramon Rodriguez, entered into a secret side agreement (the referee refers to it as the "Engagement Agreement") with Dupont, unbeknownst to their clients. Respondent was "the scrivener". (RR, 20). The document is labeled "Engagement Agreement" and provided that 1.) Respondent and his partners would become consultants for Dupont in future Benlate litigation; 2.) they would be paid a fee of \$6.445 million dollars within two days

of execution of the agreement even though the clients' claims had not been finalized by that time (the \$6.445 million dollar fee was the end result of negotiation between Respondent and his firm and Dupont, with Respondent having initiated the bidding with a \$12 million demand and eventually agreeing to accept \$6.445 million); 3.) the \$6.445 million dollar fee was to be considered earned at the time of payment, even though there may be no future need for their consultant services; and 4.) the agreement would remain confidential, even as regards their clients (TFB Ex. 10). Additionally, a significant portion of the clients' settlement funds would be impounded for a period of two years in order to secure a confidentiality provision of the settlement agreement (RR, 18).

Respondent was the one who signed the secret side agreement and the settlement agreement on behalf of FRF&S. Respondent was aware, at that time, that Rule 4-5.6(b) prohibited the offering or making of such an agreement. (RR, 22).

On August 12, 1996, FRF&S received the \$6,445,000.00 from Dupont by wire transfer. (RR, 20).

During the week following the settlement, Mr. St. Louis traveled around the state meeting with the firm's Benlate clients, presenting the Dupont settlement offers. (TR, 13, 1579). He urged them to accept the settlements. He also told some of the clients that, if they didn't accept, the firm would withdraw as their lawyers. (RR, 23) (TR, II, 152). Some of the clients, including Beasley (TR, XIII, 1594), Haupt and Wagner, initially refused to accept the settlement. Respondent continued to represent the Benlate clients in

these efforts to convince them to accept the approximately \$59,000,000.00 Settlement Agreement without telling the clients that they were retained by Dupont and such representation continued until the 10% "hold back" escrow money was disbursed two years later. Each client received a redacted copy of the settlement agreement containing only his own settlement offer and an authorization to settle form prepared by the firm. (TR, 13, 1576). No client was told about the secret side agreement ("Engagement Agreement") the firm entered into with Dupont. (TR, V, 465). In the event that any client chose not to settle, it would not be bound by the confidentiality covenants of the settlement agreement. (TR, 13, 1572).

Every client ended up authorizing the settlement, but some were clearly unhappy and demanded more information, including information about what each other client received in settlement. In fact, one client, Jerry Gilley, demanded to know the specifics of the settlement negotiations. Respondent refused to tell him anything other than the dollar amount he would receive. As a result of Respondent's refusal to advise Mr. Gilley, he felt compelled to hire another attorney, Marc P. Ossinsky, to attempt to find out the details of the settlement negotiations. (TR, 13, 1581). On August 19, 1996 Mr. Ossinsky appeared unannounced with the clients at a meeting with Mr. St. Louis at the firm's office in Miami (TR, 13, 1580). Mr. Ossinsky, who testified at trial, demanded information regarding the details of the settlement from Mr. St. Louis. Mr. St. Louis refused to provide Mr. Ossinsky or the Gilleys any information about the Engagement Agreement (TR, 2, 208) and continued to refuse to tell them anything other than to take the amount offered or to get another attorney and to take nothing. (RR, 25)

With the exception of the Davis Tree Farms, none of the clients were ever told about the "Engagement Agreement." Respondent knew that they had not been told, did not do so himself, and never explained its terms to any of the clients. (TR, XIV, 1747). By not disclosing the secret side agreement, Respondent was protecting FRF&S interest in \$6,445,000.00, his own interest in his share of that fee (\$2,277,663.00) and Dupont's economic interests in not having it disclosed to the world that it had paid a law firm in violation of Rule 4-5.6(b) of The Rules of Professional Conduct. Dupont had ongoing Benlate related litigation across the country and was engaging in similar conduct in those other cases. (RR, 27).

Thereafter, Respondent accepted his share of the \$6,445,000.00 secret side agreement payment, which was \$2,277,663.00 (TR, IV, 356, 362), (TFB Ex. 45). His total fee was approximately 6 million dollars (his share of the contingency from the settlement agreement and his share of the engagement agreement), (TR, XIV, 1735). By accepting those proceeds, Respondent ratified the terms of the secret side agreement, and the actions of his partner, Francisco Ramon Rodriguez. Respondent participated fully in all of the discussions and negotiations with Dupont concerning the secret side agreement, was its primary architect and proponent, and was aware of all the actions of Mr. Rodriguez. Respondent, in executing, delivering and entering into the secret side

agreement, and keeping its terms secret from the clients, has therefore violated Rule 4-5.1(c). The \$6.445 million secret side agreement payment was in violation of Rule 4-5.6(b) and was a prohibited fee. (TR, VI, 623).

THE LYING TO COVER UP THE SECRET SIDE AGREEMENT

In 1997, having received informal complaints, The Florida Bar conducted an investigation into allegations that, in essence, the \$59,000,000.00 settlement agreement was not explained to the clients and that it was a prohibited aggregate settlement (RR, 29). The Florida Bar did not know of the existence of the secret side agreement ("Engagement Agreement"). Respondent sent his letter response to the Bar complaint to Elena Evans, Bar Counsel. In that response, he made the following statement: "It is disappointing that Mr. Ossinsky would continue to insist that we have withheld some kind of 'documentation' relating to the settlement negotiations; we simply cannot furnish him with what does not exist.") (TFB Ex. 29, p. 7, FN9). That statement was false and Respondent knew that it was false. (RR, 29).

Joan Fowler was then assigned as Bar Counsel and the case was sent to the Grievance Committee. Jeannette Haag was the Investigating Member. Respondent and Mr. Rodriguez requested a meeting in Inverness, Florida. Joan Fowler asked them to bring all the documents relating to the settlements to the meeting. (TR, III, 287). Respondent and Mr. Rodriguez brought a banker's box of records to the meeting. The records of the settlement, including the secret side agreement, were in the box (TR, 13,

1635). The Respondents pulled the documents out of the box one at a time and showed them to Jeannette Haag and Joan Fowler. Respondent never revealed the existence of the secret side agreement to Joan Fowler or Jeannette Haag. Joan Fowler was under a misapprehension that she had seen all the documents, and was under the misapprehension that the \$245,000.00 was the payment by Dupont for the restriction on the right to practice. Respondent knew of the misapprehensions and failed to correct them. (RR, 34). This was a misrepresentation by omission, as Respondent had a duty to disclose the secret side agreement. As a result of the misapprehension, The Florida Bar entered into very lenient consent judgments based upon the belief that no secret deal existed.

In October 2000, Respondent appeared before The Honorable Thomas S. Wilson, Jr., Circuit Judge of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit. In response to a question by Judge Wilson, Respondent said "I disclosed to The Florida Bar at the time I was questioned every piece of information, every document at my disposal". (TFB Ex. 30, p. 5) (RR, 35). Then, in response to another question by Judge Wilson, Respondent said "No, your Honor, I'm not telling you that. I am telling you, sitting as Court presiding over this case, that I made full disclosure to The Florida Bar". That statement was also false and Respondent knew that it was false. (TFB Ex. 30, p. 5) (RR, 36). By his misrepresentations to the Bar and Judge Wilson, Respondent engaged in a protracted cover-up of his misconduct in entering into the secret side agreement.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The referee's recommended discipline falls short of the discipline warranted by Respondent's misconduct in light of 1) prior decisions of the Florida Supreme Court and other State Courts and 2) The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

The referee's failure to find guilt of Rule 4-1.7(a) (Representing Adverse Interests) was clearly erroneous.

ARGUMENT

While the referee's fact findings are presumptively correct and should not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or lacking evidentiary support, <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Vining</u>, 707 So.2d 670, 672 (Fla. 1998), the referee's recommended discipline is afforded a broader scope of review. This Court has stated, however, that a recommended discipline will not be second-guessed "so long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing case law". <u>Vining at 673 (quoting The Florida Bar v. Lecznar</u>, 690 So.2d 1284, 1288 (Fla. 1997). The Florida Bar intends to show that the recommended discipline in this case is not supported by existing case law, nor by The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, and also that the referee's failure to find guilt of Rule 4-1.7(a) (Representing Adverse Interests) is clearly erroneous.

ISSUE I

SHOULD A LAWYER BE DISBARRED WHO MADE A SECRET SIDE AGREEMENT WITH HIS ADVERSARY IN RETURN FOR \$6,445,000.00, WHO DID NOT TELL HIS CLIENTS ABOUT IT, AND THEN ENGAGED IN A COVER-UP BY LYING TWICE ABOUT IT TO THE FLORIDA BAR AND THEN LATER LYING ABOUT IT TO A CIRCUIT JUDGE

The misconduct of Respondent in entering into a secret side agreement (referred to as the "Engagement Agreement" by the referee) with Dupont in return for \$6,445,000.00 and not telling his clients about it is the most egregious form of a breach of clients' trust. This is the worst nightmare for a client and the breach of trust is the equivalent of stealing the clients' money from a trust account. The breach of trust is total in both instances. Respondent's misconduct strikes at the heart of the attorney-client relationship, that is, the trust that clients place in their attorneys to pursue their legal interests. The misconduct encompasses precisely the fear clients have that their attorneys will be "bought off" by opposing counsel, or that their attorneys will use the clients' case to surreptitiously profit from the representation. Mr. St. Louis should be disbarred in light of the cover-up which lasted for years, during which he lied to the Bar twice during the disciplinary process and then lied to a circuit judge who asked him about it – a total of three lies. This cumulative misconduct mandates disbarment.

A. THE RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EXISTING CASE LAW.

Respondent and his partners are cases of first impression for this Court's review of Rule 4-5.6(b) (Restriction on the Right to Practice). The only Bar discipline cases concerning Rule 4-5.6(b) are two cases from other jurisdictions which involve secret side agreements.¹

In the case of <u>In re: Brandt</u>, 331 Or. 113, 10 P. 3D 906 (Or. 2000), the respondent associated as co-counsel a lawyer named Griffin in the representation of 49 tool distributors against the manufacturer of the tools. Respondent entered into a settlement agreement and also a side agreement whereby he was retained by the manufacturer for the sum of \$10,000.00 and \$175.00 per hour to act as legal counsel and provide legal services to the manufacturer. Respondent also made a misrepresentation to his client and to the Bar by letter response to Bar Counsel. Brandt had prior discipline consisting of a letter of admonishment. The Supreme Court of Oregon imposed upon Brandt a suspension for 13 months. Griffin, who had no prior discipline, received a 12 month suspension. This case involves misconduct that is far more egregious than that involved in Brandt.

¹ There is one case in which sanctions were imposed upon lawyers by the United States District Court, S.D. Florida, for entering into a secret side agreement. <u>Adams v. Bellsouth Telecommunications, Inc.</u>, 2001 WL 34032759 (S.D. Fla. 2001).

In the case of <u>In re: Hager</u>, 812 A. 2d 904 (D.C. 2002), respondent and a lawyer named Traficonte represented 50 clients in claims against the manufacturer of head-lice shampoo. They entered into a settlement agreement with the manufacturer of the shampoo without the knowledge of any of their clients, which restricted their right to practice, provided that the case would be dropped and that the terms would remain confidential even from the clients with the exception of 4 matters, and that the clients would receive refunds, and that the manufacturer would pay Traficonte and respondent \$225,000.00. Traficonte negotiated the secret agreement, but he kept Hager informed. Hager made a deceitful statement to one client. The District of Columbia Court of Appeals imposed a one-year suspension. The disgorgement of the fee was deferred until time of reinstatement. This case is far more egregious than <u>Hager</u>.

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