IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR, Complainant,	Case No.: SC04-49
v.	TFB File No. 2001-00,356(8B)
ROLAND RAYMOND ST. LOUIS, JR., Respondent.	

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF AND INITIAL BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL

Roland R. St. Louis, Jr., Esq., *pro se* **ROLAND ST. LOUIS, P.A.**The Colonnade, Suite R-60
2333 Ponce de Leon Boulevard
Coral Gables, Florida 33134
Telephone: 305-444-2363

Facsimile: 305-444-4223

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

A disciplinary proceeding arising from the far more egregious *Adams v. BellSouth* case, which occurred after the settlement at issue in this case, in which the plaintiffs' lawyers received a majority of the settlement funds, including monies from the common settlement "pot of funds" ostensibly negotiated for the client settlements, reflecting a direct conflict of interest.

The Sheehe and Vendittelli cases also involve an underlying set of facts which is far more egregious than this case. They structured an undisclosed

the lenient discipline of a 60-day suspension, probation, additional *pro bono* service and continuing ethics education, and payment of the Bar's costs, which are very substantial. ³³

Acknowledging that a Referee's recommended sanction should not be second guessed so long as it has a reasonable basis in existing case law, ³⁴ the Bar ignores the results of the other cases cited above, dramatically overstates the evidence of alleged dishonesty by Respondent, and demands the severest sanction of disbarment.

The cases relied upon by the Bar for more stringent sanctions all involve conduct far more egregious, without any element of the lawyer

aggregate settlement, manufactured backdated documents to conceal that fact, arranged for direct payments from DuPont unrelated to any demand by DuPont or condition of the settlement, arranged with DuPont to keep a \$1 Million allocation of settlement monies if a client (Native Hammock/Smith) declined its purported "offer" without disclosing that prospect or fact to the client, and agreed with their adversary, DuPont, that they would withdraw from representing a client with terminal cancer (James Davis) as consideration for the aggregate settlement of other cases. The Bar entered into consent judgments with Messrs. Sheehe and Vendittelli for an admonishment and public reprimand, respectively.

There was apparently no evidentiary hearing directed to the costs, but the Bar submitted a summary affidavit and the Referee awarded all \$72,218.37 that the Bar demanded. It is not known what, if any, documentation exists in support of certain line items, such as "witness expenses" of \$10,383.43. The separately recommended \$2 Million "fee forfeiture" that Respondent maintains is inappropriate and is dealt with at Argument VII, below.

See Bar's Initial Brief at p. 14.

involved acting to protect the interests of the clients. *In re Hager*, 812 A. 2d 904 (D.C. 2002), involved attorneys in a failed product liability class action lawsuit who essentially "threw the fight" by negotiating only a \$10,000 product cost refund for their 90 clients, with no damages paid to them at all, while secretly negotiating and taking a \$225,000 fee from the same pot of settlement monies for themselves. If they had not insisted on that fee, the defendant, Warner-Lambert, would have gone through with the settlement without any confidentiality covenants. 812 A. 2d at 910. In that respect, the dynamics of the settlement in *Hager* were radically different than this case. In particular, the Court was concerned not with lawyers attempting to utilize a perceived exception to Rule 45.6(b) at the demand of an adversary in order to secure an overwhelmingly beneficial settlement for clients in dire need, but rather, lawyers deceiving their clients about the clients' continuing entitlement to sue for damages, in order to bring the litigation to a halt and earn fees equal to more than 95% of the settlement proceeds:

...the danger being that the lawyers might urge a class settlement at a low figure or on a less-than-optimal basis in exchange for red-carpet treatment on fees.³⁵

In this context, the Bar also cites *Florida Bar v. Senton*, 882 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 2004), a completely inapposite case in which an attorney

³⁵ 812 A. 2d at 912-913.

repeatedly exploited his attorney-client relationship to pressure a woman into having sexual relations with him, then repeatedly lied to the Bar about those facts under oath. The Bar also relies on *Florida Bar v. Budnitz*, 690 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 1997), another inapposite case in which the attorney had been found, by clear and convincing evidence, to have attempted to conceal crimes by lying under oath to a grand jury in New Hampshire, and lying to the New Hampshire Bar in the disciplinary investigation of that matter (leading to his disbarment in New Hampshire).

The Bar cites *Florida Bar v. Rightmyer*, 616 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 1993), a case in which an attorney convicted of criminal perjury charges and numerous trust account violations, after prior disciplinary misconduct, warranted disbarment. In a similar vein, *Florida Bar v. Langford*, 126 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1961), concerned an attorney who explicitly lied to a grievance committee and requested another attorney to falsely corroborate such testimony in an effort to conceal his filing of a forged deed. Finally, the Bar cites *Florida Bar v. Oxner*, 431 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1983), a case in which a lawyer repeatedly lied to a judge in order to obtain a continuance from trial because of his lack of preparation, and was given a 60-day suspension.

With the exception of the unprecedented \$2 Million "fee forfeiture" addressed below, the Referee's other recommended disciplinary sanctions are appropriate and should be followed.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL

VI. THE DOCTRINES OF RES JUDICATA, COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL AND/OR COLLATERAL ATTACK ON A PRIOR CONSENT JUDGMENT BAR FINDINGS OF GUILT AS TO MULTIPLE OF THE CURRENT ALLEGED VIOLATIONS.

Respondent adopts by reference and incorporates herein the argument of Francisco R. Rodriguez in Case No. SC03-909, concerning the Bar's impermissible collateral attack on the 1998 Consent Judgment in the original disciplinary proceeding against Respondent, Case No. 91,917,³⁶ and the res judicata / collateral estoppel bars to relitigating issues involved (that is, which were or could have been litigated) in such initial proceeding.³⁷ See, *e.g.*, *Arrieta-Gimenez v. Arrieta-Negron*, 551 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 1989); Rule 1.540(b), *Fla. R. Civ. P.*; *Florida Bar v. Collier*, 526 So. 2d 916 (Fla. 1988);

³⁶ See Resp. App. I.

See Rodriguez's Initial Brief, Argument I. Respondent concedes that the determination made on this issue as to Mr. Rodriguez must overlap to a large degree with the Court's determination as to Respondent. Nevertheless, there are some points Respondent believes should be considered that are not addressed in Mr. Rodriguez's Initial Brief.

ICC Chemical Corp. v. Freeman, 640 So. 2d 92 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994); Hay v. Salisbury, 109 So. 617 (Fla. 1926); Kimbrell v. Paige, 448 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1984); Dept. of Agriculture and Consumer Services v. Mid-Florida Growers, Inc., 570 So. 2d 892 (Fla. 1990)(explaining rule against splitting causes of action). However, Respondent makes the following additional observations:

- (1) As noted above, throughout the period of the Inverness meeting and the initial Bar investigation, the Bar investigators, Mr. Rodriguez and Respondent were acutely aware of the potential jeopardy to the clients' \$6 Million settlement escrow account, and that risk played a role in how each of the participants conducted themselves.
- (2) The only and uncorroborated Bar witness for the alleged "misrepresentations" in Inverness, Joan Fowler, cannot recall what specific communications she had with either Mr. Rodriguez or Respondent, either at Inverness or otherwise, cannot remember whether the documents came in a box or a trial briefcase, cannot recount the precise nature of any purported misrepresentations, cannot state precisely what factual misapprehensions she had at the time or in what precise manner she allegedly revealed those misapprehensions. Ms. Fowler admits to having no notes or records of the meeting, and has testified that she and/or the Bar "purged" the file after the investigation, such that she cannot produce a single corroborating

contemporaneous note, photocopy or other tangible thing. She now claims that she did not make more direct inquiries or examine all pertinent documents because Mr. Rodriguez and Respondent were "charming." Ms. Fowler's purported recollections of the Inverness meeting have also "improved" over the years. This very type of uneven and uncorroborated "enhanced recollection" of a single witness has been found insufficient to support serious charges against an attorney in Bar disciplinary proceedings. See *Florida Bar v. Rayman*, 238 So. 2d 594, 596-7 (Fla. 1970); *Florida Bar v. Fredericks*, 731 So. 2d 1249, 1251 (Fla. 1999).

(3) Respondent received the legal advice³⁹ that he testified to from the Late Hon. Daniel Pearson, Robert Batsel, Esq. a respected member of his local Grievance Committee, and highly qualified counsel for Mr. Rodriguez and the firm (under a joint defense privilege), that he had to tell the truth but did not have to volunteer information that could jeopardize his clients'

³⁸ TR, Vol. III, p. 298.

Another question of first impression in Florida is whether advice of counsel is a defense to the *mens rea* element of a claim of knowingly violating disciplinary rules. The Bar took the inconsistent position herein that all lawyers are expected to have full knowledge of the rules, and yet, its case was built on "expert testimony" ostensibly interpreting the rules, supplied principally by Associate Professor Harriet Rubin Roberts.

interests unless the Bar requested such information. 40 Under those circumstances, and owing to the fact that he fully cooperated, Respondent has never felt that he had been dishonest or failed to fulfill his duty in connection with the Inverness meeting in particular or the 1997 Bar investigation generally. 41 Outside of the meeting in Inverness, Mr. Rodriguez had virtually all of the communications with the investigators, and Mr. Rodriguez was the one who had custody of and brought the box of settlement documents (that were kept in a locked closet in Mr. Rodriguez's office – an office that Respondent had not been in for 8 months beforehand) to the meeting for the investigators' review.

- (4) It was the Bar that proposed the Consent Judgment, as a means of bringing closure and finality to the initial disciplinary proceeding, consistent with its precise language: "This concludes any Bar Investigation into all of the firm's twenty (20) Benlate clients."
- (5) Among the many contradictions in Ms. Fowler's accounts and conduct is the fact that she was unquestionably aware of the DuPont

⁴⁰ TR, Vol. XIII, p. 1631.

The Referee acknowledges the specific legal advice Respondent received and followed in Inverness (RR, p. 31, ¶ 41), but neither the Bar nor the Referee cited any legal authority demonstrating that advice to be false or inappropriate.

engagement agreement of the Friedman Rodriguez law firm by the time of her February 8, 2000 deposition in the Gainesville litigation, was specifically questioned about it, and yet Ms. Fowler, a longtime Bar investigating and prosecuting attorney who was thoroughly conversant with the disciplinary rules, did not initiate any complaint or inquiry with the Bar against Mr. Rodriguez and Respondent for supposedly having made false statements during the prior Bar disciplinary proceeding, as she herself would have been required to do under Rule 4-8.3(a).

Respondent has been prejudiced by the very manner in which this proceeding has been conducted by the Bar, including the enormity and multiplicity of the allegations, and the extent to which they have required relitigation of matters already resolved by the Consent Decree. ⁴² As outlined in Mr. Rodriguez's Initial Brief, a substantial portion of the charges herein, including a number of the Referee's findings of rule violations, represent an

At one point, the Referee quipped, "when Professor Roberts was testifying, my eyes were glassing over with the number of violations. It was like a house of cards." TR, Vol. XV, pp. 1899-1900. Bar counsel herein has been extremely aggressive about soliciting and encouraging any kind of negative testimony about Respondent, in conjunction with the former clients' civil case attorneys. See, e.g., Resp. App. J. This Court has on occasion had to remind the Bar that "The Bar has consistently demanded that attorneys turn 'square corners' in the conduct of their affairs. An accused attorney has a right to demand no less of the Bar when it musters its resources to prosecute for attorney misconduct." *Florida Bar v. Rubin*, 362 So. 2d 12, 16 (Fla. 1978).

impermissible collateral attack, or alternatively, should have been barred by principles of res judicata or collateral estoppel.

VII. THE UNPRECEDENTED "FEE FORFEITURE"
THAT THE REFEREE RECOMMENDED IN THIS CASE IS
AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL FINE, AN IMPROPER FORM OF
"DETERRENCE," IMPROPER IN VIEW OF THE FACT THAT
THERE IS NO REASONABLE BASIS TO BELIEVE THAT
RESPONDENT HAS OR WILL HAVE THE FINANCIAL
ABILITY TO PAY IT, AND REPRESENTS UNFAIRLY
INCONSISTENT TREATMENT.

The undisputed evidence was that Respondent has been financially ruined by this experience, presently has a negative net worth, ⁴³ has had his law practice severely impaired, and has no practical ability to pay any forfeiture. Respondent has substantial debts and outstanding judgments, has liquidated virtually all assets, and has no savings for his family's basic needs. Respondent and his family have exhausted all of their financial resources in litigation costs over the past 8 years, and have had to borrow heavily from relatives in order to sustain themselves. In short, Respondent has no funds and no assets traceable or attributable to any funds derived from the 1996 distributions, and no practical ability to pay a substantial fine.

See reviewed financial statement and supporting affidavit by forensic accountant, submitted under seal to this court by filing dated December 17, 2004, and the Referee's comments at RR, p. 44, fn. 17.

The "forfeiture" penalty insisted upon by the Bar is unequal, disproportionate and unprecedented. Contrary to the Bar's suggestions, Respondent's former partners have not heretofore been required to pay any "fee forfeiture" to the Florida Bar Clients' Security Fund. Ms. Ferraro and Mr. Friedman had paid negotiated settlements to some of the firm's former clients and their lawyers to settle claims against them in the Gainesville litigation in lieu of defending same, and then characterized those payments as "restitution" in their disciplinary cases. "Restitution" is compensation to former clients for harms visited upon them. "Restitution" is not a "fee forfeiture," which is a confiscation of fees wrongfully obtained and held by a lawyer, required to be paid to the Clients' Security Fund.

Fee forfeiture under Rule 3-5.1(h) was proposed and adopted as a method of addressing improper attorney advertising (see *The Florida Bar: Petition to Amend the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar – Advertising Issues*, 571 So. 2d 451, 452, 455 (Fla. 1990); see also Standard 13 of the *Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions*), and not as an all-purpose

However, the Referee found that the former Benlate clients of the Friedman Rodriguez firm were not harmed but in fact were "over-compensated." They also received undisclosed settlement proceeds in the Gainesville litigation, a "second windfall," that belies any inference that restitution is appropriate, and of course, the Referee found no basis for restitution.

sanction whenever a disciplined lawyer has received remuneration of any kind (see Standard 2 of the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions). Furthermore, in *Florida Bar v. Frederick*, 756 So. 2d 79 (Fla. 2000), this Court pointed out that the essential purpose of the Clients' Security Fund was to "provide monetary relief to persons who suffer reimbursable losses as a result of misappropriation, embezzlement, or other wrongful taking or conversion by a member of The Florida Bar of money or other property that comes into the member's possession or control..." (fn. 6). 45

In this action, the Bar does not contend and has not argued that the money it seeks to forfeit from Respondent is reimbursable to or should somehow be channeled back to the former clients, who have already received one or two windfall recoveries, were found to have been "overcompensated," and would therefore be unjustly enriched, or to DuPont. The Bar has also never argued that there was an improper conversion or act of embezzlement of trust funds or other client property by Respondent or his law firm. Rather, the Bar argues for forfeiture for the purpose of punishing Respondent and adding to the general funds of the Clients' Security Fund.

A question posed herein is whether the legitimate purposes or the public perception of the disciplinary process could be impaired by the Bar's pursuit of financial recoveries from lawyers unconnected with the essential purposes of the Clients' Security Fund?

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